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July 31, 2020

The Honourable Nigel Clarke, DPhil. M.P.
Minister of Finance and Public Service
Ministry of Finance and Public Service
30 National Heroes Circle
Kingston 4

Dear Minister Clarke:

In accordance with section 13(1) of the Financial Services Commission Act, 2001, we hereby

submit to you, the Annual Report of the Financial Services Commission (FSC) for the Financial

Year  2019/2020  and  a  copy  of  the  FSC’s  Financial  Statements  for  the  year  ended  March  31,

2020, duly certified by its Auditors.

Sincerely,

Everton McFarlane
Executive Director
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GLOSSARY
AML Anti-Money Laundering

BOJ Bank of Jamaica

CAIR Caribbean Association of Insurance Regulators

CAPS Caribbean Association of Pension Supervisors

CAR Capital Adequacy Ratio

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CICD Compliance & Internal Control Division

CIS Collective Investment Scheme

CFT Counter Financing of Terrorism

DB Defined Benefit 

DC Defined Contribution 

ERM Enterprise Risk Management

FSC Financial Services Commission 

FUM Funds Under Management 

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GOJ Government of Jamaica

GPW Gross Premium Written  

IAJ Insurance Association of Jamaica

IMF International Monetary Fund

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IOPS International Organisation of Pension Supervisors

IOSCO International Organization of Securities Commissions 

JCSD Jamaica Central Securities Depository

JDIC Jamaica Deposit Insurance Corporation

JSDA Jamaica Securities Dealers Association

JSE Jamaica Stock Exchange

LAC Latin America and the Caribbean

MCCSR Minimum Continuing Capital and Surplus Requirement 

MCT Minimum Capital Test 

MOFPS Ministry of Finance and Public Service

PBMAA Public Bodies Management and Accountability Act

PIAJ Pension Industry Association of Jamaica

RBS Risk-Based Supervision

SFEP Schools’ Financial Education Programme

TC Toronto Centre

UFO Unregistered Financial Organization

USD United States Dollars

WIW World Investor Week
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July 31, 2020

The Honourable Nigel Clarke, DPhil. M.P.
Minister of Finance and Public Service
Ministry of Finance and Public Service
30 National Heroes Circle
Kingston 4

Dear Minister Clarke:

In accordance with section 13(1) of the Financial Services Commission Act, 2001, we hereby

submit to you, the Annual Report of the Financial Services Commission (FSC) for the Financial

Year  2019/2020  and  a  copy  of  the  FSC’s  Financial  Statements  for  the  year  ended  March  31,

2020, duly certified by its Auditors.

Sincerely,

Everton McFarlane
Executive Director
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2019
-

2020

2020
-

2021

$’ 000 $’ 000

Total Revenue 1,314,875 1,466,476 

Of Which

Fees 1,273,526 1,362,143

Interest Income 27,507 61,827 

Loss on disposal of 
Property   Plant & 

Equipment
- (286)

Recognized Gains 
on Investments

                              
-

26,148

Foreign exchange 
gain 13,715 15,424

Other 126 1,221

Total Expenses 1,146,236 1,200,521 

Appreciation 
in the value of 
investments 

classified as at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 69,351 (27,427)

Comprehensive 
income for the 

year 237,990 238,528 
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Source 2019-2020 2020-2021
Revenue 
(‘$000)

Percentage of 
Total

Revenue 
(‘$000)

Percentage of 
Total

Annual Registration Fees – Life 
and General Companies 191,485 64 194,953 73

Annual Fees – Intermediaries 92,988 31 56,186 21

Application Fees 14,762 5 14,280 5

Totals 299,235 100 265,419 100

Source 2019-2020 2020-2021
Revenue 
(‘$000)

Percentage of 
Total

Revenue 
(‘$000)

Percentage of 
Total

Annual Licensing/Registration 
Fees – Securities Dealers 
Mutual Funds 375,950 92 403,504 91

Stock Exchange & JCSD Fees 28,442 6 32,011 7

Application Fees 6,196 2 6,054 1

Totals 410,588 100 441,569 100

Source 2019-2020 2020-2021
Revenue 
(‘$000)

Percentage of 
Total

Revenue 
(‘$000)

Percentage of 
Total

Annual Licensing Fees – 
Investment Managers 563,100 99.9 654,349 99.9

Application Fees 602 0.01 806 0.01

Totals 563,702 100 655,155 100
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Strategic Objectives and Initiatives Results

Strategic Goal 1:   Establish and maintain proactive and responsive regulatory and supervisory 
frameworks for the securities, insurance and pensions industries, to ensure financial sector stability 
and promote sound financial sector development and modernization.

Implement FSC’s Legislative Reform Agenda Partially 
Met

On-going Phased Implementation of the FSC Risk Based Supervision Framework for all 
three sector Divisions Met

Strategic Goal 2: Facilitate public education and awareness of information pertaining to the securities, 
Insurance and Pensions industries, as well as the general work of the FSC

Contribute to enhanced consumer protection and financial capability in support of the 
National Financial Inclusion Strategy Met

Strategic Goal 3: Foster and  enforce  compliance  with legislation  relating  to  the  securities, 
insurance and pensions industries, through a robust enforcement programme

Conduct programme of assessment for licensees/registrants and infrastructure providers
Met

Strategic Goal 4: Enhance FSC’s performance through alignment and management of human, 
information and financial resources

Implement the restructuring of HR function and processes, according to the “Action Plan 
and Monitoring Framework for the Transformation of FSC Organization, Culture and 
Enterprise Information Management”

Not met

Implement Enterprise Information Management reform, according to the “Action Plan 
and Monitoring Framework for the Transformation of FSC Organization, Culture and 
Enterprise Information Management” Not met

Prudent financial management Met

Cost containment Partially
met
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Actual Projected
FY2020-2021 FY2021-2022

($’ 000) ($’ 000)
INCOME

Fees 1,362,142 1,266,934
Interest Income 61,827 21,610
Other 1,221 240
Recognized gains on Investments 26,148
Gain/loss on foreign exchange 15,424
Loss on disposal of Property Plant & 
Equipment

(286)

TOTAL INCOME 1,466,476 1,288,784
EXPENSES

Advertising 794 1,085
Appeals Tribunal 4,325 3,939
Audit 2,024 2,303
Bank Charges 651 860
Building Maintenance 15,488 20,721
Commissioners Fees 1,921 3,424
Data Security 10,483 10,332
Depreciation and amortization 26,043 46,516
Motor Vehicle and parking expense 12,134 14,664
Office Expenses 18,100 52,539
Irrecoverable General Consumption Tax 25,434 51,860
Impairment losses on investments (1,439) -
Impairment losses on trade receivables, net 
of recoveries

(12,761) -

Printing and stationery 1,213 5,316
Professional fees 68,527 22,200
Public Education 22,180 14,100
Interest expense 8,668 9,039
Staff Cost 928,907 961,933
Subscriptions 32,475 10,010
Training and conferences 5,743 9,900
Utilities 29,611 32,369
TOTAL EXPENSES 1,200,521 1,273,110

Appreciation in value of investments classified as fair value 
through profit or loss (27,427) -

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 238,528 15,674
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BOARD OF COMMISSIONER’S REPORT

2

July 31, 2020

The Honourable Nigel Clarke, DPhil. M.P.
Minister of Finance and Public Service
Ministry of Finance and Public Service
30 National Heroes Circle
Kingston 4

Dear Minister Clarke:

In accordance with section 13(1) of the Financial Services Commission Act, 2001, we hereby

submit to you, the Annual Report of the Financial Services Commission (FSC) for the Financial

Year  2019/2020  and  a  copy  of  the  FSC’s  Financial  Statements  for  the  year  ended  March  31,

2020, duly certified by its Auditors.

Sincerely,

Everton McFarlane
Executive Director
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MEMBERS TOTAL NUMBER
OF MEETINGS

(APRIL 2020 - MARCH 2021)

Mrs. Jacqueline Stewart-Lechler Board Chairman 15/15

Mr. Erwin Burton Board Member 14/15

Mrs. Myrtle Halsall, OD Board Member 13/15

Mr. Andre Hutchinson, Board Member 14/15

Ms. Simone M. Pearson Board Member 14/15

Mrs. Hillary Robertson Board Member 12/15

Mr. Ronald Young Board Member 13/15

Mr. Everton McFarlane Executive Member 15/15

MEMBERS TOTAL NUMBER
OF MEETINGS

(APRIL 2020 - MARCH 2021)

Simone Pearson Chairperson 4/4

Jacqueline Stewart Lechler Board Member 4/4

Myrtle Halsall Board Member 4/4
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COMMISSIONER TOTAL NUMBER OF MEETINGS  
(APRIL 2020 - MARCH 2021)

Mr. Andre Hutchinson Chairman 7/7

Mr. Erwin Burton Board Member 7/7

Mrs. Hillary Robertson Board Member 7/7

Everton McFarlane Executive Director 7/7

COMMISSIONER TOTAL NUMBER OF MEETINGS  
(APRIL 2020 - MARCH 2021)

Mr. Andre Hutchinson Chairman 4/4

Mr. Erwin Burton Board Member 4/4

Mrs. Hillary Robertson Board Member 3/4

Everton McFarlane Executive Director 3/4

MEMBERS TOTAL NUMBER
OF MEETINGS

(APRIL 2020 - MARCH 2021)

Ronald Young Chairperson 5/5

Mr. Erwin Burton Board Member 5/5

Jacqueline Stewart Lechler Board Member 5/5

Everton McFarlane Executive Director 4/5
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COMMISSIONER TOTAL NUMBER OF MEETINGS  
(APRIL 2020 - MARCH 2021)

Myrtle Halsall Chairman 4/4

Simone Pearson Board Member 4/4
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NAME 
AND POSITION 

OF 
DIRECTOR

FEES
($)

MOTOR 
VEHICLE 
UPKEEP/

TRAVELLING 
OR

VALUE OF 
ASSIGNMENT

OF MOTOR
VEHICLE ($)

HONORARIA
($)

ALL OTHER 
COMPENSATION

INCLUDING 
NON-

CASH BENEFITS
AS APPLICABLE

($)

TOTAL
($)

Jacqueline Stewart Lechler- 
Chairman of the Board of 
Commissioners

409,500 455,000 864,500

Myrtle Halsall- Chairman- 
Audit Committee 202,125 202,125

Erwin Burton 129,500 192,150

Andre Hutchinson- 
Chairman- Finance 
Committee

166,125 166,125

Ronald Young- Chairman 
Human Resource 
Administration Committee

166,875 166,875

Simone Pearson- Chairman- 
Opportunity to Be Heard 
Committee

192,500 192,500

Hilary Robertson 136,500 136,500

TOTAL 1,465,775 455,000 1,920,775
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SELECTED MACROECONOMIC 
INDICATORS 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Real GDP Growth (%) 1.4 0.5 1.9 0.9 -10.2

Net International Reserves (US$M) 2,719.4 3,208.3 3,005.41 3,162.53 3,126.13

Inflation (%) 1.7 5.2 2.4 6.2 5.2

T-Bill Yield (6months) 
(%)

6.56 4.63 2.07 1.58 0.86

JSE Combined Index (points) 204,960 294,987 383,557 505,294 392,436

Average Unemployment Rate (%) 12.9 11.7 9.1 7.2 10.7

Exchange Rate 
(end of period)

128.44 125 127.72 132.57 142.65

Percentage Rate of FX Depreciation ($J vs 
US$)

6.7 -2.7 2.2 3.8 7.6

THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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ROUTINE 
MONITORING 
AND 
SUPERVISION
& POLICY 
APPROVALS

• Completed 17 Annual Risk Assessements
• Completed 65 Quarterly Risk Assessments
• Completed 103 Intermediary semi-annual monitoring Reports
• Completed the review of 10 Reinsurance Treaty Programmes (four  
   [4] of which were detailed reviews)
• Processed/approved 354 registration applications
• Reviewed and approved 11 new/amended insurance policies
• Oversight of other insurance intermediaries   

RISK-BASED 
SUPERVISION 
(RBS)

• Continued the development of the RBS Framework
• Developed several templates to facilitate RBS
• Executed two pilot on-site examinations using the full RBS 
   Framework & one on-site examination applying the RBS 
   methodology on a smaller scale 

ON-SITE 
EXAMINATIONS

• Completed four (4) on-site examinations as follows:
          • Three (3) were insurance companies using the RBS 
             methodology; and
          • One (1) was insurance company using the compliance 
             base approach 

REVISED 
GUIDELINES/
BULLETINS & 
LEGISLATIVE 
PROJECTS

• Clarifications and comments were provided on legislative 
   amendments concerning Stress Testing, Asset Liability Management, 
   Group Insurance,Microinsurance, Investments and Capital Requirements
• Submitted finalized proposal for the development of Market Conduct 
   Regulations
• Draft proposals for the development of regulations in relation to 
   Change of Ownership/Control
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TYPE OF REGISTRANTS REGISTERED 
AS AT 

31/03/2020

ADDITIONS LESS 
TERMINATIONS/
CANCELLATIONS

REGISTERED 
AS AT 

31/03/2021

Life Insurance Companies 7 0 1 6

General Insurance Companies 12 0 0 12

Association of Underwriters 1 0 0 1

Insurance Brokers 24 0 0 24

Facultative Placement 
Brokers

18 0 0 18

Overseas Reinsurance 
Brokers

1 0 0 1

Local Reinsurance Brokers 2 0 0 2

Insurance Agents 42 7 5 44

Insurance Sales Reps 3,693 R 346 117 3,922

Loss Adjusters 33 0 0 33

Loss Adjusters - Employed 
Practitioners

9 1 2 8

Investigators 22 0 0 22

Claim Negotiators 4 0 0 4

Insurance Consultants 4 0 0 4

TOTAL 3,872 354 125 4,101
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JAMAICAN GENERAL INSURANCE INDUSTRY DATA FOR 2020 (P)

LIABILITY PROPERTY MOTOR 
VEHICLE

PECUNIARY 
LOSS

MARINE 
AVIATION & 
TRANSPORT

ACCIDENT AGGREGATE

NUMBER OF 
POLICIES

8,203 45,922 429,586 4,050 490 25,850 514,101

GROSS DIRECT 
PREMIUMS 
WRITTEN 
(J$’M)

3,035.5 28,675.7 25,663.3 1,382.0 599.9 254.0 59,610.4

REINUSRANCE 
ASSUMED 
(J$’M)

5.6 200.9 56.2 0.4 0.0 2.2 265.3

Gross Premiums 
Written (J$’M)

3,041.1 28,876.6 25,719.5 1,382.4 599.9 256.2 59,875.7

REINSURANCE 
CEDED (J$’M)

1,529.7 28,357.5 6,633.7 1,203.8 496.2 73.2 38,294.1

NET PREMIUMS 
WRITTEN 
(J$’M)

1,511.3 519.2 19,085.7 178.6 103.7 183.0 21,581.5

% OF GROSS 
PREMIUMS 
CEDED

50.4% 98.9% 25.8% 87.1% 82.7% 28.8% 64.2%

NET PREMIUMS 
EARNED (J$’M)

1,512.0 578.0 18,531.9 203.2 96.8 175.2 21,097.1

GROSS DIRECT 
CLAIMS 
INCURRED 
(J$’M)

898.1 1,811.6 15,711.4 56.4 58.1 64.4 18,600.0

CLAIMS ON 
REINSURANCE 
ASSUMED 
(J$’M)

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

CLAIMS ON 
REINSURANCE 
CEDED (J$’M)

352.4 1,578.9 3,858.4 41.6 40.4 23.5 5,895.2

NET INCURRED 
CLAIMS (J$’M)

545.7 232.8 11,853.0 14.9 17.8 41.0 12,705.2

CLAIMS RATIO 
(%)

36.1% 40.3% 64.0% 7.3% 18.4% 23.4% 60.2%

P - Preliminary
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AS AT
DEC-16A DEC-17A DEC-18A DEC-19A DEC-20P

$’B $’B $’B $’B $’B

BALANCE SHEET

Total Investment Assets 47.8 50.1 51.7 45.7 46.1

Total Assets 71.2 78.0 81.1 88.6 91.2

Insurance Liabilities 38.8 43.1 44.1 48.7 51.8

Other Liabilities 6.0 8.1 9.7 13.4 11.8

Total Liabilities 44.8 51.2 53.8 62.1 63.6

Capital & Surplus (incl. reserves) 26.3 27.3 27.3 26.5 27.3

 

Total Revenue (YTD) 21.2 22.4 23.4 24.6 23.9

Of Which

Net Premium Earned 16.9 18.2 20.0 20.6 21.1

Net Investment Income 3.3 4.0 2.7 3.1 1.9

Other Income 1.0 0.2 0.7 0.9 0.9

Underwriting Expenses 16.6 19.0 19.2 20.6 20.3

Income before Tax 4.6 3.4 4.2 4.0 3.6

Taxes 0.9 1.0 1.4 0.8 1.1

Income (Loss) after Tax 3.7 2.4 2.8 3.2 2.5
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CLASS OF BUSINESS

NET INCURRED CLAIMS

2016A 

$’ M
2017A 

$’ M
2018A 

$’ M
2019A 

$’ M
2020P 

$’ M

Liability 494.0 483.9 469.9 295.7 545.7 

Property 367.2 363.7 112.1 263.2 232.8 

Motor Vehicle 9,053.3 10,677.7 11,210.6 11,933.3 11,853.0 

Pecuniary Loss 6.9 40.1 5.8 7.9 14.9 

Marine Aviation & Transport (MAT) -0.1 10.5 8.6 10.6 17.8 

Accident 36.7 45.2 19.6 23.9 41.0 

Total 9,958.00 11,621.10 11,826.60 12,534.6 12,705.2 
A - Audited                        P - Preliminary
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CHART 27:  STATISTICAL INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE LIFE INSURANCE INDUSTRY 

AS AT DEC 16A

$’B
DEC 17A

$’B
DEC 18A

$’B
 DEC 19A

$’B
 DEC 20A

$’B

BALANCE SHEET

Total Investment Assets 276.5 289 299.7 329.8 314.7

Total Assets 297.2 312.1 324.2 359.6 367.4

Insurance Liabilities 87.8 96.2 95.6 99.3 121.5

Other Liabilities 140 133 135.6 151.9 125.3

Total Liabilities 227.8 229.2 231.2 251.2 246.8

Capital & Surplus (incl. reserves) 69.4 82.9 93 108.4 120.6

PROFIT AND LOSS (YTD)      

Total Revenue 77.4 89.3 92.6 105.4 81.1

Net Premium Income 48.0 58.5 59.6 67 67.5

Net Investment Income 24.7 25 26.3 30.6 8.5

Other Income 4.7 5.8 6.7 7.8 5.1

Total Expenses 60.5 70.7 68.5 81 55.2

Policy Benefits 28.4 30.6 34.9 39.5 41

Operating Expenses 22.5 25.0 27.1 34.2 26.4

Other Expenses 9 5.0 10.5 0.1 1.7 -19.1

Taxes 4.6 4.6 6.4 5.6 6.9

NET INCOME AFTER TAXES 16.9 18.6 24.1 24.4 25.9
A-Audited, YTD -  Year To Date   
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CHART 28: AGGREGATE POLICY BENEFITS, 2016-2020

POLICY BENEFITS
2016A 2017A 2018A  2019A  2020A

$’MILLIONS

Claims 16,101.2 17,596.2 20,350.2 22,620.6 23,635.5

Of Which:      

Sickness & Health 10,933.4 11,866.5 13,305.9 14,952.3 15,108.5

Death Claims 5,013.0 5,554.2 6,888.5 7,494.5 8,336.8

Disability Claims 29.0 15.9 11.5 10.0 7.0

Matured Endowments 125.8 159.6 144.3 163.8 183.1

Annuity Payments 5,522.1 5,887.5 6,777.6 8,143.1 6,922.6

Surrender Values 5,894.6 6,257.6 6,859.7 7,678.7 8,982.4

Other 740.1 900.9 906.9 1,011.8 1,438.1

Total Policy Benefits 28,258.0 30,642.2 34,894.4 39,454.2 40,978.5

A - Audited
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48 
 

Chart 26: Aggregate Policy Benefits, 2015-2019 

Policy Benefits 
2015 A  2016 A 2017 A 2018 A 2019 A 

$ 'Millions 
Claims: 13,590.3 16,101.20 17,596.20 20,350.2 22,620.6 
Of Which:           

      Sickness & Health 9,753.6 10,933.4 11,866.5 13,305.9 14,952.3 
      Death Claims 3,492.2 5,013.0 5,554.2 6,888.5 7,494.5 
      Disability Claims 13.6 29.0 15.9 11.5 10.0 
      Matured Endowments 330.9 125.8 159.6 144.3 163.8 

Annuity Payments 4,898.3 5,522.1 5,887.5 6,777.6 8,143.1 
Surrender Values 5,190.8 5,894.6 6,257.6 6,859.7 7,678.7 
Other  607.2 740.1 900.9 906.9 1,011.8 
Total Policy Benefits 24,286.6 28,258.0 30,642.2 34,894.4 39,454.2 

A-Audited     
 
As at December 31, 2019, policy benefits increased by 13.1 per cent to $39.5 billion in 2019 from 
the $34.9 billion in 2018.  Total combined claims accounted for 57.3 per cent of the total policy 
benefits. Sickness and health for the industry accounted for 66.1 per cent of the total claims. 
Chart 27 shows the percentage composition of policy benefits for the period 2015-2019. 

 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the total reported capital, surplus and reserves for the life insurance 
industry was $108.4 billion which represented an increase of 16.6 per cent when compared to 
the corresponding period (December 2018: $93.0 billion). The weighted average Minimum 
Continuing Capital and Surplus Requirement (MCCSR) for the life insurance sector was 250.7 per 
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CHART 30: A SNAPSHOT OF THE DIVISION’S 
MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS

PRUDENTIAL 
ENHANCEMENTS

o    Continued phased   
      implementation of the  
      large exposure  
      framework 
o    Monitoing of the Retail  
      Repo Mismatch Ratio 
o    Update to the Guidelines for  
      Issuers of Securities
o    Proposal to move the  
      Market Conduct Guidelines  
      into regulations
o    Internal Gap Analysis in  
      preparation for consultation  
      on implemetation of new  
      Capital and Liqudity        
      Framework

RISK-BASED
SUPERVISION

o    Advancement  in the continued  
      development of a risk-based  
      supervisory framework
o    Completed pilot reviews using  
      RBS methodology

PRUDENTIAL, 
MARKET 

CONDUCT AND 
AML/CFT

o    Six (6) Onsite Examinations
o    Five (5) Risk Based Assessments
o    Review of bi-annual bottom up  
      Stress Test Results
o    Review of exempt distribution  
      reporting

REGISTRATION 
OF SECURITIES

o    127 securities registered under        
      the exempt distribution regime
o    12 prospectuses reviewed to  
      faciliate listing of companies
o    14 offering documents for sale  
      of CIS funds renewed

ROUTINE 
MONITORING 

o    Weekly, monthly, quarterly and  
        annual desk based reviews and  
       on-site examinations as well as  
      monitoring of Early Warning Ratios
o    Oversight of Jamaica Stock  
      Exchange, Jamaica Central  
      Securities Depository and listed  
      entities
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CHART 31 : NUMBER OF LICENSEES & REGISTRANTS BY CATEGORY

Licensed/         
Registered 
At 31/3/20

Additions Less Terminations/       
Cancellations

Licensed/          
Registered At 

31/3/21

Securities Dealers 13 43 1 3 41 

Securities Dealers’ 
Representatives

942 R 143 38   1,047 

Investment Advisers 4 3 1 6

Investment Advisers’ 
Representatives 3 0 3 0

Mutual Funds 11 0 0 11

Unit Trust Schemes 19 R 0 0 19

Total 1,022 147 45  1,124 
 R  - figures restated

Institution Type March  31, 2021

Total Securities Dealers 38

Of Which:

Core Securities Dealers14 31

Non-Core Securities Dealers 7

Of Which:

Insurance Companies 2

Others 5

FSC Annual Report 2020-2021 - PAGES-DRAFT-7.indd   43FSC Annual Report 2020-2021 - PAGES-DRAFT-7.indd   43 11/4/2022   10:47:06 AM11/4/2022   10:47:06 AM



Financial Service Commission  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 202144

CHART 33: TOTAL BALANCE SHEET ASSETS OF SECURITIES DEALERS  
BY TYPE OF COMPANY, 2016-2020 DECEMBER

Category of 
Securities 
Dealers 

(Company)

Total Assets

Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19 Dec-20
$

Billions
% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

Core 
Securities 
Dealers

        
550.7 

          
54.2 

        
556.6 

          
52.2 

        
561.0 

          
51.6 

        
650.6 

          
56.9 

        
736.9 

          
67.8 

Non-Core 
Securities 
Dealers

        
466.1 

          
45.8 

        
508.8 

          
47.8 

        
526.9 

          
48.4 

        
493.8 

          
43.2 

        
350.8 

          
32.3 

of which:           

Building 
Society/

Commercial 
Bank

        
153.3 

          
15.1 

        
166.7 

          
15.7 

        
166.4 

          
15.3 

        
166.4 

          
14.5 

               
-   

               
-   

Insurance 
Companies

        
294.7 

          
29.0 

        
320.8 

          
30.1 

        
333.9 

          
30.7 

        
297.9 

          
26.0 

        
318.9 

          
29.3 

Others
 18.1 

             
1.8 

          
21.2 

             
2.0 

          
26.6 

             
2.4 

          
29.5 

             
2.6 

          
32.0 

             
2.9 

TOTAL   1,016.8  100.0 1,065.4  100.0   1,087.9   100.0   1,144.4 100.0 1,087.7  100.0 

Note: Unaudited data
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CHART 37: TOTAL BALANCE SHEET CAPITAL OF SECURITIES DEALERS  
BY TYPE OF COMPANY, 2016-2020

Category of 
Securities 
Dealers 

(Company)

Capital

Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19 Dec-20
$

Billions
% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

Core 
Securities 
Dealers 77.9 47.8 83.5 46.4 79.2 42.9 113.7 49.0 130.1 51.3

Non-Core 
Securities 
Dealers 85.2 52.2 96.6 53.6 105.6 57.1 118.2 51.0 123.4 48.7

of which:           

Building 
Society/

Commercial 
Bank 20.4 12.5 19.4 10.8 18.7 10.1 18.7 8.0 0.0 0.0

Insurance 
Companies 62.1 38.1 73.9 41.1 82.6 44.7 94.3 40.7 117.7 46.4

Others 2.6 1.6 3.3 1.8 4.4 2.4 5.3 2.3 5.8 2.3

TOTAL 163.1 100.0 180.2 100.0 184.8 100.0 232.0 100.0 253.5 100.0

Note: Unaudited data
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CHART 38 : TOTAL FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT OF SECURITIES  
DEALERS BY TYPE OF COMPANY, 2016-2020
Category of 
Securities 
Dealers 

(Company)

Funds under Management (FUM) 16

Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19 Dec-20

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

$
Billions

% of 
Total

Core 
Securities 
Dealers 1,112.3 79.4 1,186.7 75.9 1,229.8 75.4 1,346.1 73.7 1,366.0 75.6

Non-Core 
Securities 
Dealers 289.5 20.7 376.0 24.1 401.1 24.6 481.0 26.3 441.4 24.4

of which:           

Insurance 
Companies 254.9 18.2 331.0 21.2 355.6 21.8 416.4 22.8 387.8 21.5

Others 34.6 2.5 45.0 2.9 45.5 2.8 64.6 3.5 53.7 3.0

Total 1,401.8 100.0 1,562.6 100.0 1,630.9 100.0 1,827.2 100.0 1,807.4 100.0

Note: Unaudited data
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DEC-2016                   
$’BILLION

DEC-2017                   
$'BILLION

DEC-2018                    
$'BILLION

DEC-2019                    
$'BILLION

DEC-2020                    
$'BILLION

TOTAL REVENUE 49.98 45.6 51.04 61.1 52.6

Total Expense 34.46 30.9 33.33 30.21 37.79

Total Interest Income 31.25 26.91 24.34 19.78 24.32

Total Interest Expense 17.88 15.91 13.8 11.7 14.77

Net Interest Income 13.37 11 11 8.07 9.38

Net Profit after tax 8.37 9.48 11.97 25.06 12.04

Note: Unaudited data
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DEC-16                   
%

DEC-17                   
%

DEC-18                    
%

DEC-19                    
%

DEC-20                    
%

FSC
BENCHMARK

%

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Capital / Total Assets 14.15 15 14.12 17.48 17.5 ≥ 6

Capital Adequacy Ratio 17 20.35 19.54 20.78 22.86 22.63 ≥ 10

PROFITABILITY      

Return on Assets 18 1.52 1.7 2.13 2.19 1.11

Return on Equity 19 10.73 11.35 15.11 10.8 4.75

Net Interest Margin 20 42.77 40.87 45.19 40.8 38.57

Net Profit Margin 21 16.74 20.78 23.45 41.01 22.89

Note: Unaudited data
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• Units Sold 50.4 119.4 91.6 117.0 88.9

• Units Redeemed 28.3 77.6 77.7 108.3 97.4

• Net Inflow 22.1 41.8 13.9 8.7 -8.4

184.3 241.2 275.8 349.6 343.7
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• Units Sold 32  19.1  19.7 18.1

• Units Redeemed 32.5  25.6  21.7 17.5

• Net Inflow/(Outflow) (0.53) (6.5) (2) (0.65)

2016 2017 2018                2019              2020                  

TOTAL FUM (USD MILLIONS) 220 263 272 303 335

ACTIVITY DURING THE YEAR

Value of Units Sold (USD millions) 46 58 62 48 57

Value of Units Redeemed (USD millions) 37.7 34.2 34.8 34.1 33.9

NET FLOWS

Value (USD millions) 8                   24          28       14 23
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CHART 48: PUBLIC OFFERINGS 
REGISTERED: 2016 - 2020

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Number of Public Offerings 13 10 19 22 11

Value ($ Billions) 11.0 15.6 16.0 50.0 42.0
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Main Market (non-block) YTD December 2019 YTD December 2020 Change Change%

Value $91.76 Billion $49.92 Billion $-41.84 Billion -45.60%

Volume 8.72 Billion 6.69 Billion -2.03 Billion -23.32%

Number of trades 123,562 172,046 48,484 39.24%

Market Cap $1.92 Trillion $1.55 Trillion $370.00 Billion -19.28%

Junior Market YTD December 2019 YTD December 2020 Change Change%

Value $9.39 Billion $4.68 Billion $-4.71 Billion -50.15%

Volume 2.87 Billion 1.77 Billion 1.10 Billion -38.38%

Number of trades 47,755 68,128 20,373 42.66%

Market Cap $151.35 Billion $119.70 Billion $-31.65 Billion -20.91%

Combined Market YTD December 2018 YTD December 2019 Change Change%

Value $101.15 Billion $54.60 Billion $-46.55 Billion 46.02%

Volume 11.59 Billion 8.46 Billion -3.13 Billion -27.01%

Number of trades 171,317 240,174 68,857 40.19%

Market Cap $2.08 Trillion $1.67 Trillion $-410.00 Billion -19.71%

USD Market YTD December 2018 YTD December 2019 Change Change%

Value $27.88 Million $16.44 Million $-11.44 Million -41.02%

Volume 105.29 Million 204.18 Million 98.89 Million 93.92%

Number of trades 2,090 4,425 2,335 111.72%

Market Cap $374.61 Million $459.31 Million $84.70 Million 22.61%

CHART 50: EXEMPT DISTRIBUTIONS REGISTERED: 
2016 - 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Number of Exempt Distributions 86 123 140 168 133

Value ($ Billions) 177.6 199.7 262.6 306.0 175.9
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ACTIVE TERMINATING INACTIVE TOTAL

Dec-19 Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-20

NUMBER OF PLANS

Defined Benefit 92 88 98 103 4 4 194 195

Defined Contribution 287 289 315 320 13 13 615 622

Total 379 377 413 423 17 17 809 817

MEMBERSHIP

Defined Benefit 20,487 19,695 232 363 1,827 1,815 22,546 21,873

Defined Contribution 104,144 113,463 602 600 55 56 104,801 114,119

Total Membership 124,631 133,158 834 963 1,882 1,871 127,347 135,992
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ACTIVE TERMINATING INACTIVE TOTAL

Dec-19 Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-20

ASSET VALUES ($’M)

Defined Benefit 419,349 396,789 4,052 5,104 260 202 423,661 402,095

Defined Contribution 271,223 256,437 5,776 4,469 69 63 277,068 260,969

Total Asset Values 690,572 653,226 9,828 9,573 329 266 700,729 663,065
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Number of 
Active Plans

Percentage 
of Plans

Number 
of Members

Percentage 
of 

Membership

Asset Value 
as at Dec 31, 

2019           ($’ 
Millions)

Percentage 
of Asset 

Value

Retirement Schemes 13 3.45% 66,427 49.89% 52,364 8.02%

Superannuation Funds 364 96.55% 66,731 50.11% 600,862 91.98%

TOTAL 377 100.00% 133,158 100.00% 653,226 100.00%
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TYPES OF INVESTMENT

AMOUNT 
INVESTED                            

($'M)

% OF 
TOTAL 

INVESTMENTS

AMOUNT 
INVESTED                            

($'M)

% OF 
TOTAL 

INVESTMENTS

AMOUNT 
INVESTED                            

($'M)

% OF 
TOTAL 

INVESTMENTS

DEC-18 DEC-19 DEC-20

Deposits 5,044.74 0.84% 6,069.75 0.86% 8,671.13 1.31%

Commercial Paper 199.44 0.03% 330 0.05% 414.57 0.06%

Securities of Governments 144,329.70 23.96% 143,915.47 20.50% 147,168.99 22.22%

Repurchase Agreements 13,588.60 2.26% 19,445.09 2.77% 24,130.93 3.64%

Bonds and Debentures 33,391.29 5.54% 38,808.98 5.53% 35,678.37 5.39%

Mortgage 96.85 0.02% 32.63 0.00% 62.21 0.01%

Other Loans 3,813.79 0.63% 4,233.75 0.60% 4,145.71 0.63%

Promissory 
Notes 6,154.47 1.02% 9,732.96 1.39% 10,590.77 1.60%

Leases 3,496.76 0.58% 5,182.18 0.74% 4,024.91 0.61%

Stocks and Shares 139,872.55 23.22% 180,819.45 25.75% 144,010.61 21.74%

Real Estate 24,227.69 4.02% 25,672.87 3.66% 29,820.13 4.50%

Investment Arrangements 224,099.57 37.20% 263,609.80 37.54% 250,024.81 37.75%

Derivatives                    -   0.00% 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Other Investments 4,052.43 0.67% 4,314.22 0.61% 3,577.04 0.54%

Total 
Investments 602,367.88 100.00% 702,167.15 100.00% 662,320.19 100.00%

Other Net Assets -533.72  -1,436.87  744.87  

TOTAL ASSETS 601,834.10  700,730.28  663,065.06  
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Investment Managers Number of 
Entities

Asset Values 
($'M)

Number of 
Entities

Asset Values 
($'M)

Number of 
Entities

Asset Values 
($'M)

2018 2019 2020

Insurance Companies 3 315,818 3 362,851 2 246,050

Securities Dealers 15 238,874 15 281,160 16 363,326

Credit Unions 1 483 1 543 1 567

Other 7 46,659 7 56,176 6 53,122

TOTAL 26 601,834 26 700,730 25 663,065
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EARLY WARNING RISK 
ASSESSMENT

PLAN TYPE PLAN IMPACT RISK LEVEL

Low Moderate High

Superannuation Funds

DC

Low 68 1 2

Moderate 49 0 1

High 86 1 4

Traditional DB 25 

Low 2 0 0

Moderate 3 0 0

High 60 0 4

Hybrid DB 26 

0 0 0

0 0 0

High 8 0 0

Mixed DB 27

0 0 0

0 0 0

High 4 0 1

Retirement Schemes

Low 0 0 0

0 0 0

9 0 1

Total 289 2 13
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SOLVENCY LEVELS OF ACTIVE PLANS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

# of plans
Solvency Level % of plans 

which are 
solvent

Less than 
100%

Between 
100%  & 120%

Between 
120% & 150%

Greater than 
150%

DB 86 2 16 26 42 98%

DC 274 11 189 54 20 96%

TOTAL NUMBER 360 13 205 80 62 96%

RISK LEVEL

PLAN IMPACT Low Moderate High

Administrators Low 2 4 0

Moderate 1 0 0

High 4 6 0

Investment 
Managers

Low 0 1 0

Moderate 1 5 0

High 1 6 0

Corporate 
Trustees

Low 0 0 0

Moderate 1 0 0

High 0 0 0

Total 10 22 0
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Application as at 
March 31, 2020

New 
Applications

Approved in 
Current Year

Rejected/
Withdrawn 

in Current Year
Applications as 

at March 31, 2021

B/F C/F

Superannuation Funds 19 15 15 4 15

Retirement Schemes 0 0 0 0 0

Total 19 15 15 4 15
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KEY INITIATIVES ACHIEVED :
Development of a case 
management tracking 

system- to better 
manage and track the 

conduct and resolution 
of all categories of 

investigations.
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ENTITY/PERSON TYPE OF BREACH IDENTIFIED ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
INITIATED

Insurance Agency •Failure to meet minimum capital  
 requirement

Cancellation of Registration

Investment Adviser • Inability to sustain investment  
   advice business 
• Failure to maintain minimum capital  
   requirement 
• Failure to submit statutory filings  
   to the FSC in a timely and  
   consistent manner

Revocation of Licence

UFO- Securities • Carrying out securities business and   
   investment advice business, without  
   the requisite licences

Cease & Desist Order

Insurance Sales 
Representative

• Failure to meet Fit & Proper
   standards

Cancellation of Registration
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RISK PROFILE SECURITIES 
DEALERS

LIFE 
INSURANCE 
COMPANIES

INSURANCE 
INTERMEDIARIES 
(OLT BUSINESS)

TOTAL

Low 17 3 9 29

Moderate 9 1 6 16

Above Average 5 1 7 13

High 5 1 6 12

Total 36 6 28 70
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[2] The asterisks indicate individual dealers who are associated with a company that is also licensed as dealer
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31 The International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS) represents insurance regulators and supervisors of 200 jurisdictions and 
sets the standards for insurance regulation and supervision; the FSC is a member.  The IAIS works closely with other “financial sector 
standard setting bodies and international organisations to promote financial stability.”
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KPMG, a Jamaican partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
global organization of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited 
by guarantee. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Members of 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Financial Services Commission 
(Commission), set out on pages 4 to 40, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at March 31, 2021, the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in reserves and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Commission as at March 31, 2021, and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Commission in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants including International Independence Standards 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KPMG 
Chartered Accountants 
P.O. Box 436 
6 Duke Street 
Kingston 
Jamaica, W.I. 
+1 (876) 922 6640 
firmmail@kpmg.com.jm 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Commission or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Commission’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

FSC Annual Report 2020-2021 - PAGES-DRAFT-7.indd   99FSC Annual Report 2020-2021 - PAGES-DRAFT-7.indd   99 11/4/2022   10:50:16 AM11/4/2022   10:50:16 AM



Financial Service Commission  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021100

 

           

Page 3 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Commission’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Commission to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Kingston, Jamaica 
 
July 30, 2021 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

 
 Notes 2021 2020 
INCOME 
 Fees 3(j) 1,362,142,657 1,273,525,860 
 Interest income  61,827,201 27,507,304 
 Loss on disposal of  
    property, plant and equipment  (          286,485) -           
 Foreign exchange gain  15,423,508 13,715,395 
 Recognized gains on investments  26,148,265 -           
 Other 14        1,221,235           126,346 
   1,466,476,381 1,314,874,905 
EXPENSES 
 Advertising  794,080 700,098 
 Appeal tribunal  4,325,225 4,059,182 
 Audit  2,023,950 2,023,950 
 Bank charges  651,404 1,145,771 
 Building maintenance  15,487,698 12,015,904 
 Commissioners' fees  1,920,775 1,635,850 
 Data security  10,482,734 9,680,219 
 Depreciation and amortisation 10,11 21,632,137 23,245,988 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 12(a) 4,410,860 5,909,800 
 Irrecoverable general consumption tax  25,433,917 23,077,338 
 Impairment losses on investments 19(b) (       1,439,422) 513,261 
 Impairment losses  
      on trade receivables, net of recoveries 6(a) (     12,760,979)   (        3,150,747) 
 Interest on lease liabilities 12(c) 8,668,426 8,451,162 
 Motor vehicle and parking expenses  12,133,686 12,760,225 
 Office expenses  18,099,710 26,553,544 
 Printing and stationery  1,213,257 2,675,412 
 Professional fees  68,527,405 39,662,761 
 Public education  22,180,244 33,343,858 
 Rent  -           -           
 Staff costs 15 928,906,540 861,915,395 
 Subscriptions  32,475,018 26,115,248 
 Training and conferences  5,742,810 23,276,326 
 Utilities       29,611,262      30,625,811 
   1,200,520,737 1,146,236,356 
(Depreciation)/appreciation in value of investments 
     classified as fair value through profit or loss  (     27,427,236)      69,351,351  
Surplus for the year, being total 
 comprehensive income for the year  $   238,528,408    237,989,900 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Statement of Changes in Reserves  
Year ended March 31, 2021  
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

                                                                                                                          Capital      
    General fund  reserve  Total 
    (note 13) (note 13) 
   
Balances at March 31, 2019  1,423,390,443 1,078,564 1,424,469,007 
Surplus for the year, being total 
   comprehensive income for the year  237,989,900        -        237,989,900 
Financial distribution (note 23)  (     12,330,000)         -        (     12,330,000) 
Balances at March 31, 2020  1,649,050,343 1,078,564 1,650,128,907 
Surplus for the year, being total 
   comprehensive income for the year  238,528,408        -        238,528,408 
Financial distribution (note 23)  (     11,900,000)         -        (     11,900,000) 
Balances at March 31, 2021  $1,875,678,751 1,078,564 1,876,757,315
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2021 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 Surplus for the year  238,528,408 237,989,900 
 Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation and amortisation 10,11 21,632,137 23,245,988 
  Depreciation on right of use assets  12(a) 4,410,860 5,909,800 
  Loss on disposal of  
       property, plant and equipment  286,485 -           
  (Depreciation)/appreciation in  
                      fair value of investments  27,427,236 (  69,351,351)  
  Interest on lease liabilities 12(c) 8,668,426 8,451,162 
 Interest income (  61,827,201) (  27,507,304) 
  239,126,351 178,738,195 
 (Increase)/decrease in current assets: 
  Short-term investments  (  47,179,722) (188,304,703)  
  Accounts receivable    (       122,757) (       558,114) 
  Taxation recoverable  1,417,890 (                52) 
 Increase/(decrease) in current liabilities: 
  Accounts payable  55,035,562 32,154,928 
  Deferred fees    49,536,956   34,471,464 
 Net cash provided by operating activities  297,814,279   56,501,718 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 Additions to intangible assets 10        765,271 -           
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 11 (    9,991,600) (  10,627,621) 
 Investments, net  (276,671,170) 30,538,925  
 Interest received     36,238,762   25,424,985 
 Net cash provided/(used) by investing activities  (261,680,631)   45,336,289 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
 Lease, net 12(d) (    4,759,068) (    6,745,177) 
 Financial distribution 23 (  11,900,000) (  12,330,000) 
 Net cash used by financing activities  (  16,659,068) (  19,075,177) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  19,474,580 82,762,830 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year    78,722,067 (    4,040,763) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  $  98,196,647   78,722,067 
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8 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

1. The Commission 
 

Financial Services Commission (Commission) is a statutory, not-for-profit organisation 
established under the Financial Services Commission Act, 2001 (Act).  It is domiciled in 
Jamaica and its principal place of business is located at 39 - 43 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5. 
 
The principal functions of the Commission are as stated in Section 6 (1) of the Act and the 
Commission is exempt from income tax (note 17). 
 
For the purpose of protecting customers of financial services, the Commission shall: 
 
a) supervise and regulate prescribed financial institutions; 

 
b) promote the adoption of procedures designed to control and manage risk, for use by the 

management, boards of directors and trustees of such institutions; 
 

c) promote stability and public confidence in the operations of such institutions; 
 

d) promote public understanding of the operation of prescribed financial institutions; 
 

e) promote the modernisation of financial services with a view to the adoption and 
maintenance of international standards of competence, efficiency and competitiveness. 

 
On August 2, 2001, all assets, rights and liabilities of the Securities Commission in existence on 
that date were transferred to and vested in the Commission which commenced operations on 
that day. On the same date, the Commission assumed responsibility for Unit Trusts under the 
Unit Trusts (Amendment) Act, 2001.  With the passing of the Insurance Act 2001, the 
Commission also assumed regulatory responsibility for the insurance industry, on the appointed 
day (December 21, 2001).  The Commission also assumed regulatory responsibilities for the 
pension industry under the Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retirement Schemes) Act 
which had been enacted on September 21, 2004. 
 
The Government of Jamaica (GOJ) through its agencies, the Superintendent of Insurance and 
the Financial Sector Adjustment Company in previous years donated certain property, plant and 
equipment to the Commission.  These assets were brought in at valuation which was 
subsequently deemed to be cost (see note 12). 

   
At March 31, 2021, the Commission had in its employment 156 (2020: 149) employees, out of 
a Board-approved establishment of 139 (2020: 132) employees. 

 
2. Basis of preparation  
 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations, as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. 
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9 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued): 
 

New and amended standards that became effective during the year 
 

Certain new and amended standards came into effect during the current financial year.  
The Commission has assessed them and has adopted those which are relevant to its 
financial statements; none of which resulted in any change to the amounts recognised or 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
New and amended standards issued that are not yet effective: 

 
At the date of authorization of the financial statements, certain new and amended 
standards  have been issued which are not yet effective for the current financial year and 
which the Commission has not early-adopted. The Commission has assessed the 
relevance of all such new standards and amendments with respect to its operations and 
has determined that the following may be relevant: 
 
 Amendments to IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets is 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and clarifies 
those costs that comprise the costs of fulfilling the contract.  
 
The amendments clarify that the ‘costs of fulfilling a contract’ comprise both the 
incremental costs – e.g. direct labour and materials; and an allocation of other 
direct costs – e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, 
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract. This clarification will require 
entities that apply the ‘incremental cost’ approach to recognise bigger and 
potentially more provisions. At the date of initial application, the cumulative effect 
of applying the amendments is recognised as an opening balance adjustment to 
retained earnings or other component of equity, as appropriate. The comparatives 
are not restated. 
 

 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 cycle contain amendments to 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, IAS 41 Agriculture, and are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
 
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments amendment clarifies that – for the purpose of 

performing the ‘10 per cent test’ for derecognition of financial liabilities – 
in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes 
only fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including 
fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. 

 
(ii) IFRS 16 Leases amendments removes the illustration of payments from the 

lessor relating to leasehold improvements. 
 

(iii) The amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture remove the requirement to exclude 
cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning the fair 
value measurement requirements in IAS 41 with those in IFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement. 
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10 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued): 
 

New and amended standards issued that are not yet effective (continued): 
 
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, will apply 

retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 
The amendments promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on 
determining if a liability is current or non-current.  

 Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current when 
they do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period. As part of its amendments, the 
requirement for a right to be unconditional has been removed and instead, now 
requires that a right to defer settlement must have substance and exist at the end of 
the reporting period. A company classifies a liability as non-current if it has a right 
to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period. It has now 
been clarified that a right to defer exists only if the company complies with 
conditions specified in the loan agreement at the end of the reporting period, even if 
the lender does not test compliance until a later date. 

 With the amendments, convertible instruments may become current. In light of this, 
the amendments clarify how a company classifies a liability that includes a 
counterparty conversion option, which could be recognised as either equity or a 
liability separately from the liability component under IAS 32. Generally, if a 
liability has any conversion options that involve a transfer of the company’s own 
equity instruments, these would affect its classification as current or non-current. It 
has now been clarified that a company can ignore only those conversion options that 
are recognised as equity when classifying liabilities as current or non-current.  

 
The Commission is assessing the impact, if any, that the above new standards and 
amendments may have on its future financial statements when they become effective. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement and functional and presentation currency: 
 

The financial statements, as at and for the year ended March 31, 2020 (reporting date), 
are prepared on the historical cost basis and are presented in Jamaica dollars (J$), which 
is the functional currency of the Commission. 
 

(c) Use of estimates and judgments: 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amount of, and disclosures relating to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities at the reporting date and income and expenses for the year then ended.  Actual 
amounts could differ from those estimates. 
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11 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

 
2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(c) Use of estimates and judgments (continued): 
 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and 
in any future periods affected.  Judgements made by management in the application of 
IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next financial year are discussed below: 

  
(i) Judgements: 

 
For the purpose of these financial statements, judgement refers to the informed 
identification and analysis of reasonable alternatives, considering all relevant facts 
and circumstances, and the well-reasoned, objective and unbiased choice of the 
alternative that is most consistent with the agreed principles set out in IFRS.  The key 
relevant judgements are as follows: 

 
(1) Classification of financial assets: 

 
The assessment of the business model within which assets are held and 
assessment of whether the contractual terms of financial asset are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding requires management to make certain judgements of its business 
operations.  

(2) Impairment of financial assets: 
 
Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining 
methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into 
measurement of expected credit loss (ECL) and selection and approval of 
models used to measure ECL require significant judgement. 

 
(ii) Key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty: 

 
Allowance for impairment losses: 
 
In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses of financial assets in the 
financial statements, management makes assumptions in determining the inputs to be 
used in the ECL measurement model, including incorporation of the forward-looking 
information.  Management also estimates the likely amount of cash flows recoverable 
on the financial assets in determining loss given default.  The use of assumptions 
make uncertainty inherent in such estimates. 

 
(iii) Contingencies: 
 

In the ordinary course of operations, the Commission may encounter suits and/or 
counter-suits in the performance of its functions.  Such actions may, or may not, 
result in liability to the Commission and management assesses the potential for 
liability in conjunction with legal counsel and provision is made accordingly. 
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12 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies  
 

(a) Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets: 
 

(i) Owned assets: 
 

Items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are stated at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses [note 3(k)]. 
 
Intangible assets comprise computer software and security system software. 

 
(ii) Subsequent costs: 
 
 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 

in the carrying amount of the item, if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the entity and its cost can be 
measured reliably.  The cost of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in profit or loss.   

 
(b) Depreciation and amortisation: 

 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are depreciated/amortised on the 
straight-line basis at annual rates to write down the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their expected useful lives.  The depreciation rates are as follows: 

 
Office furniture 10%  
Motor vehicles 20%  
Leasehold improvement 

and Equipment 25% 
Computer equipment and software 25%  
Depreciation on right of use assets  25% 

 
The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each 
reporting date. 
 

(c) Capital expenditure: 
 

Amounts utilized from government grants for the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment, including donated assets and advances to secure future purchases, are 
transferred to capital reserve.  An amount equivalent to the annual depreciation charge on 
the relevant property, plant and equipment is transferred from capital reserve to the 
general fund.   
 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents: 
  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and are measured at 
amortised cost.   
 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Commission’s cash management activities, are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

 
(e) Securities purchased under resale agreements: 

 
Securities purchased under resale agreements (reverse repo) are short-term transactions 
whereby the Commission buys securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the 
securities on a specified date and at a specified price. Title to the security is not actually 
transferred, unless the counterparty fails to comply with the terms of the contract. 
 
Reverse repos are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending. Reverse repos are 
classified as originated loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost. 
 
The difference between the purchase and resale considerations is recognised on the 
accrual basis over the period of the agreement using the effective yield method and is 
included in interest income. 
 

(f) Investments: 
 
Investments that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.  A gain or loss on debt investment that is subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
recognised in profit or loss.  Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
“Interest income” using the effective interest method. 
 

(g) Accounts receivable: 
 
Accounts receivable are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses.  An 
impairment loss is recognised using the expected credit loss model for the entire lifetime 
of such financial assets on initial recognition, and at each subsequent reporting period, 
even in the absence of a credit event or if a loss has not yet been incurred, considering for 
their measurement past events and current conditions, as well as reasonable and 
supportable forecasts affecting collectability [see also note 4(k)]. 

 
(h) Accounts payable: 
 

Accounts payable are measured at amortised cost. 
 
 (i) Provisions: 
 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Commission has 
a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
amount can be made.  If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
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14 
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(j) Fees: 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer.  
The Commission recognises revenue when it transfers control over service to a customer. 
 
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies: 
 
The nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with 
customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition 
policies are as follows: 

 
i. Securities 

 
Application fees for registration as dealers, dealers’ representatives, responsible 
officers, investment advisers and mutual funds, which are payable on application 
along with fees from commercial paper, are taken to income on receipt.   
Annual license fees from dealers, dealers’ representatives, responsible officers, 
investment advisers and mutual funds are deferred and recognised as income in the 
period to which they relate.  Fees from traders on the stock exchange are recognised 
as income in the period to which they relate.  

 
In accordance with the Securities (Licensing and Registration) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008, which came into effect on October 1, 2008, fees are calculated 
using “the greater of: 

 
(i) $500,000; or 

 
(ii) The aggregate of - 5 basis points on the 1st $5 billion of total assets; and 

 - 1.5 basis points on the next $25 billion of total assets; and 
 -   75/100 basis points on total assets over $30 billion.” 
 

For the purpose of the fee calculation, at items (i) or (ii), “assets” is taken to mean: 
 

a) the “aggregate total of a dealer’s balance sheet assets as at the 31st December of 
the year immediately prior to the anniversary of the grant of the licence taken 
without the netting of its liabilities plus the aggregate value, at that date, of 
securities or other investment instruments held or managed on behalf of clients 
whether on a discretionary or non-discretionary basis; or 

 
b) in the case of a unit trust and overseas mutual funds, the net value of securities 

sold by or through the dealer during the year ending on the 31st December 
immediately prior to the anniversary of the grant of its licence”. 

 
ii. Insurance  
 

Fees for new registrations for insurance companies, agents, brokers, sales 
representatives and other insurance intermediaries are taken to income on receipt. 
Renewal fees from insurance companies are recognised as income in the period to 
which they relate.   
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2021  
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Fees: (continued) 
 

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies (continued): 
 

ii. Insurance (continued) 
 

Renewal Fees – Insurance Companies 
 

Previously, in accordance with the amended 20th schedule, which came into effect on 
October 1, 2003, renewal fees for Intermediaries were the greater of the fee indicated 
on the amended 20th schedule or 0.5% of earned commissions.  Fees for General & 
Life Insurance companies are based on assets as outlined in the amended 20th 
schedule.  

 
(1) Jamaican and CARICOM Life/Sickness & Health Insurance Companies 

 
A fee of $1 million, or the sum of: 
First $5 billion of total assets at 0.14%; 
Second $5 billion of total assets at 0.07%; and 
Total assets in excess of $10 billion at 0.04%, whichever is greater. 

 
(2) Jamaican and CARICOM General Insurance Companies 

 
In accordance with the amended 20th schedule which came into effect on 
November 1, 2008, the new fee structure for Jamaican and CARICOM General 
Insurance Companies are the aggregate of a fixed amount of $4.7 million and 
an amount equivalent to 0.20% of total assets. 

 
(3) Foreign Companies – Life/Sickness & Health and General Insurers 

 
The fee is charged on the above bases at (1) and (2), as amended, but on assets 
relating to liabilities in Jamaica only. 
 
For the purpose of the fee computation, “Total Assets” are as shown in the 
annual statements as at December 31, of the previous year. 
 

iii. Pension 
 

The licensing fee payable by Investment Managers is one tenth of one percent of the 
total assets under management as at December 31 of the previous year. 
 
For the purpose of the fee computation, “total assets” are as shown in the annual 
statements as at December 31, immediately prior to the renewal date. The fees are 
deferred and recognised as income in the period to which they relate.   
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2021  
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k) Impairment: 
 

Financial assets 
 
The Commission recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on debt 
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL and financial assets measured at amortised 
cost. 
 
The Commission measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except 
for the following which are measured at 12-month ECLs: 
 
- debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 

date; and 
- other financial instruments (other than trade receivables) on which credit risk has not 

increased significantly since their initial recognition. 
 

The Commission considers a debt investment security to have a low risk when its credit 
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.  The 
Commission does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial 
instruments. 
 
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Financial 
instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial 
instruments’.  
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the financial instrument.  Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is 
recognised but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial 
instruments’.  
 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as 
the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to 
the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Commission expects 
to receive). 
 
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Commission considers reasonable 
and supportable information relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the 
Commission’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward 
looking information. 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2021  
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k) Impairment (continued): 
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
The Commission assumes that the credit risk on financial assets has increased significantly 
if more than 120 days past due. 
 
The Commission recognises loss allowances for ECLs and considers a financial asset to be 
in default when: 
 
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Commission in full, without 

recourse by the Commission to action such as realising security if any is held; or 
- the financial asset is more than 360 days past due. 

 
Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the Commission assesses whether financial assets carried at 
amortised costs are credit-impaired.  A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or 
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred.  
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  
- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;  
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; or  
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.  

 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of the assets. 

 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a 
portion thereof. This is the case when the Commission determines that the debtor does not 
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 
amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset 
level.  Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on 
financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss.  Financial assets that are written 
off could still be subjected to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Commission’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2021  
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k) Impairment (continued): 
 
Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Commission’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, an asset’s recoverable amount is estimated at that date.  An impairment 
loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The recoverable amount of the Commission’s assets is the greater of their fair value, less 
cost to sell, and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an 
asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed, if there has been a change in the estimate used to 
determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.  

 
(l) Leases: 

 
At inception of a contract, the Commission assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a 
lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Commission uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.  This policy is applied to contracts 
entered into, or changed, on or after April 1, 2019. 

 
As a lessee 
 
At commencement or modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the 
Commission allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of their relative stand-alone prices. 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2021  
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(l) Leases (continued): 

 
As a lessee (continued) 
 
The Commission recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement 
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial 
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any direct initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received.   
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of the right-of-use assets are determined 
on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements 
of the lease liability. 

 
 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are 

not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Commission's incremental borrowing rate.  

 
 The Commission determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates 

from various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms 
of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

 
 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
 For short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, the Commission has elected not to 

recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short term leases of assets that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less and lease of low-value assets. The Commission recognises 
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2021  
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(m) Foreign currencies: 
 

Foreign currency balances outstanding at the reporting date are translated at the rates of 
exchange ruling on that date.  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
of exchange ruling at the dates of those transactions. Gains and losses arising from 
fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss.  

 
(n) Financial instruments: 

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purpose of the 
financial statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and cash 
equivalents, securities purchased under resale agreements, investments and accounts 
receivable.  Similarly, financial liabilities include bank overdraft, accounts payable and 
deferred fees. 
 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

 
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Commission 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item 
not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or 
issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially 
measured at transaction price. 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement  
 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – 
equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial assets are 
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Commission changes 
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the 
change in the business model.  
 
The financial assets that meet both of the following conditions and are not designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss: a) are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and b) its contractual 
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are classified as “held to collect” 
and measured at amortised cost.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(n) Financial instruments (continued): 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)  

 
Amortised cost represents the net present value (“NPV”) of the consideration 
receivable or payable as of the transaction date. This classification of financial assets 
comprises the following captions: 

 
 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Accounts receivable 
 Securities purchased under resale agreements 

 
Due to their short-term nature, the Commission initially recognizes these assets at the 
original invoices or transaction amount less expected credit losses. 

 
Subsequent measurement 

 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as 
described in the particular recognition methods disclosed in their individual policy 
statements associated with each item. 

 
Reclassification 

 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition except in 
the period after the Commission changes its business model for managing financial 
assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first reporting 
period following the change in business model.  

 
Derecognition 

 
A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset have expired, or the Commission has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in 
full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 
either (a) the Commission has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, or (b) the Commission has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Commission’s financial liabilities, which include bank 
overdraft, accounts payable and deferred fees are recognised initially at fair value. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(n) Financial instruments (continued): 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)  

 
Financial liabilities (continued) 

 
Subsequent measurement 

 
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as 
described in the particular recognition methods disclosed in the individual policy 
statements associated with each item. 

 
Derecognition 

 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expires. 

 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

 
(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 
(o) Related parties: 

 
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 
financial statements (referred to in IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting 
entity, in this case, the Commission”). 

a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if 
that person: 
i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a 
parent of the reporting entity. 
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March 31, 2021  
 

 

 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(o) Related parties (continued): 
 
b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 
others). 

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate 
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a 
member). 

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 
associate of the third entity. 

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the 
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the reporting entity. 

vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 

vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).  
 

viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is apart, provides key 
management services to the Commission. 

 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between 
related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.  The Commissioners and Senior 
Managers of the Commission are referred to as “key management personnel”. 

 
(p) Determination of fair value: 

 
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in 
the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Commission 
has access at that date.  The fair value of a liability reflects its on-performance risk.  Some 
financial instruments lack an available trading market.  These instruments have been 
valued using present value or other generally accepted valuation techniques and the fair 
value shown may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts realisable in an immediate 
settlement of the instruments. 
 
The Commission’s policy on the determination of fair value is disclosed in note 20. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(q) Employee benefits: 
 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by the Commission in exchange 
for service rendered by employees. These include current or short-term benefits such as 
salaries, bonuses, NIS contributions, annual leave, and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care and housing; post-employment benefits such as pension; and other long-
term employee benefits such as termination benefits. 
 
Employee benefits that are earned as a result of past or current service are recognised in 
the following manner: Short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability, net of 
payments made, and charged as expense. The expected cost of vacation leave that 
accumulates is recognised when the employee becomes entitled to the leave.  
 
The Commission participates in a group defined-contribution pension superannuation 
fund administered by an investment company.  Obligations for contributions to the 
scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss, as incurred. 

 
 
4. Cash and cash equivalents 
    2021 2020 
 

Current and saving accounts  98,160,692 78,686,112 
Petty cash         35,955        35,955 
    $98,196,647 78,722,067 

 
5. Short-term investments 
    2021 2020 
 

Securities purchased under resale agreement (i) 397,602,543 664,460,823 
Certificate of deposit (ii)  179,437,542       -              
    $577,040,085 664,460,823 
 
(i) Securities purchased under resale agreements are shown net of expected credit losses of 

$2,131,421 (2020: $3,570,843) [see note 19(b)(i)]. 
 
The interest rates on resale agreements ranges between 2.10% - 4% (2020: 2.10% - 4.00%) 
for Jamaica dollars and Nil (2020: 2.15% - 2.50%) for US dollars as at the year-end.  The 
market value of the underlying securities as at March 31, 2021 was approximately 
J$399,733,964 (2020: J$470,798,588) and US $Nil (2020: US$197,233,978). 

     
(ii) Certificate of deposits are denominated in Jamaica dollar and earn interest of 0.857% to 

1.02% per annum. 

The Commission’s exposure to credit and currency risks relating to short-term investments are 
disclosed in note 19. 
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6. Accounts receivable 
 2021 2020 
 

Trade receivables  118,091,212 139,744,826 
Less: Allowance for impairment (a)  (    3,331,955) (  16,092,934) 
   114,759,257 123,651,892 
Prepayments and deposits (b)  21,741,118 6,846,728 
Other receivables (c)  14,428,820 9,424,940 
Interest receivable    20,147,000     5,441,439 

 $171,076,195 145,364,999 
 

(a) Under the ECL model, the Commission use its accounts receivable based on days past due 
and determines an average rate of ECL, considering actual credit loss experience over the 
last 12 months and analysis of future delinquency, that is applied to the balance of the 
accounts receivable. A weighted average ECL rate is used as at the reporting date to apply 
against the accounts receivable balance [note 19 b(i)] 

 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables is as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 

 Balance at April 1 16,092,934 19,243,681 
 Impairment losses recovered  ( 12,760,979) (  3,150,747)  
 Balance at March 31  $  3,331,955 16,092,934 
 

(b) Prepayments and deposits comprise the following: 
 2021 2020 
 
 International membership fees 7,438,861 -         
 Business process consulting 6,024,945 1,864,725 
 IT software maintenance 7,184,281 2,344,675 
 Other     1,093,031   2,637,328 
  $21,741,118   6,846,728 
 

(c) Included is an amount of $11,041,330 (2020: $9,113,312) for staff loans from a staff loan 
facility approved by the Commission in the 2018/2019 financial year. During the year there 
was an increase in staff participation in the staff loan facility. 

 
The Commission’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses relating to trade 
and other receivables are disclosed in note 19. 
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7. Taxation recoverable 

 
Taxation recoverable represents tax withheld by financial institutions on interest income earned 
on balances held with those institutions. 

 
 
8. Accounts payable   
 2021 2020 
 

Trade payables  83,919,142 99,473,992 
Other payables  10,089,234 4,472,200 
Employee benefits –accrued vacation, gratuities and salary 163,204,377   98,230,999 

 $257,212,753 202,177,191 
 
The Commission’s exposure to liquidity and currency risks relating to trade and other payables 
are disclosed in note 19.  
 
Included in employee benefits is a provision of $65,500,023 (2020: $44,694,233) which 
represents the 10% performance incentive relating to performance for the reporting year ended.  

 
 
9. Investments  
 
  2021 2020 

Designated FVTPL: 
 
Unit trust -            1,118,133,371 
 
Government of Jamaica Securities: 
 J$ local bonds 1,055,858,579 52,874,100 
 US$ denominated local bonds      16,784,348    179,585,596 
  1,072,642,927 1,350,593,067 
Certificate of deposit 134,600,460 -           
Fixed Rate Notes    537,685,426                    -           

    $1,744,928,813 1,350,593,067 
 
Investments, excluding interest receivable, are due from the reporting date as follows: 

 
   2021 2020 

 
No specific maturity -          1,118,133,371 
1 year to 5 years 340,413,706 52,874,100 
Over 5 years 1,404,515,107    179,585,596  
  $1,744,928,813 1,350,593,067 
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10. Intangible assets 

 
These represent software cost capitalized as follows: 

   2021 2020 
Cost: 

At beginning of year 88,971,421 88,971,421 
Additions      765,271         -           
At end of year 89,736,692 88,971,421 

 
Amortisation: 

At beginning of year 81,570,533 77,205,032 
Charge for the year   2,961,564   4,365,501 
At end of year 84,532,097 81,570,533 

Net book value  $  5,204,595   7,400,888 
 
 
11. Property, plant and equipment 
   Office furniture, 
   equipment and 
  Motor leasehold Computer 
  vehicles improvements equipment Total 

At cost: 
March 31, 2019 13,707,961 148,164,515 104,230,626 266,103,102 
Additions          -             9,185,322     1,442,299   10,627,621 
March 31, 2020 13,707,961 157,349,837 105,672,925 276,730,723  
Additions        -         7,139,010 2,852,590 9,991,600 
Disposal          -         (    2,748,716) (  20,926,633) (  23,675,349) 
March 31, 2021 13,707,961 161,740,131 87,598,882 263,046,974  

 
Depreciation: 

March 31, 2019   3,706,040 129,943,404   72,535,586 206,185,030 
Charge for year   2,412,792     7,101,353     9,366,342   18,880,487 
March 31, 2020   6,118,832 137,044,757   81,901,928 225,065,517 
Charge for year 2,412,792 6,677,289 9,580,492 18,670,573 
Eliminate on disposal          -         (    2,529,617) (  20,859,247) (  23,388,864) 
March 31, 2021    8,531,624 141,192,429   70,623,173 220,347,226 

Net book values: 
March 31, 2021 $  5,176,337   20,547,702   16,975,709   42,699,748 
March 31, 2020 $  7,589,129   20,305,080   23,770,997   51,665,206 
 

Office furniture and equipment and computer equipment donated by the Government of 
Jamaica (see note 1) were valued as at February 25, 2002 at a fair market valuation of 
$3,205,766 and $593,000, respectively, by Delano Reid & Associates Limited, Management 
Consultants, Engineers and Appraisers. 
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12. Leases 

 
The Commission leases property and equipment. The leases include an option to renew after 
the lease periods have ended.  It is expected that in the normal course of business leases that 
expire generally will be renewed or replaced by similar leases.  Lease payments are 
renegotiated after the end of the contract period to reflect market rentals.  
 
Information about leases for which the Commission as a lessee is presented below. 
 
(a) Right-of-use assets:  2021 2020 
 

Balance at 1 April 99,525,106 105,434,906 
Depreciation charge for the year (  4,410,860) (    5,909,800) 
Balance as at 31 March  $95,114,246   99,525,106 

 
(b) Lease liabilities: 
 

Maturities analysis- contractual undiscounted cash flows: 
   2021 2020 

Less than one year  4,000,000 4,533,206 
One to five  years 34,000,000 30,000,000 
Six to ten years 50,000,000 46,000,000 
Over ten years 228,000,000 240,000,000 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 March  316,000,000 320,533,206 
Less: Discount (204,949,751) (213,392,315) 

 $111,050,249 107,140,891 
Lease liabilities included in the  
       statement of financial position at  31 March   
   
Current  3,039,490       5,410,949 
Non-current 108,010,759   101,729,942 
 $111,050,249 107,140,891 

 
(c) Amount recognised in profit or loss  2021 2020 
 

Interest on lease liabilities  8,668,426 8,451,162 
Amortisation of right –of-use assets $4,410,860     5,909,800 
  

 
(d) Amount recognised in the statement of cashflows 2021 2020 

 
 
Total cash outflow for leases $(4,759,068) (   6,745,177) 
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13. Reserves 
   2021 2020 
 

General Fund (i) 1,875,678,751 1,649,050,343 
Capital reserve (ii)        1,078,564        1,078,564 

     $1,876,757,315 1,650,128,907 
 

(i) General Fund represents net accumulated surplus. 
 

(ii) Capital reserve represents property, plant and equipment, valued at $1,078,564, taken 
over from the Securities Commission at the commencement of operations (note 1).  
These assets were donated by the United States Agency for International Development 
through the Ministry of Finance for use by the Commission. 

 
 
14. Other income 
 

Other income during the year mainly represents seminar registration fees and reversal of 
payable balances from previous years. 

 
 
15. Staff costs 
 2021 2020 
 

Salaries, wages and related costs (i) 814,561,701 758,740,105 
Payroll statutory costs 46,543,445 42,367,145 
Gratuity  35,581,110 25,394,296  
Pension (note 18) 30,343,185 32,366,607  
Motor vehicle loan subsidy (ii)     1,877,099     3,047,242  
 $928,906,540 861,915,395  
 
(i) Included in the current year amount is 5% increase in staff cost for the 2020/2021 financial 

year  
(ii) The Commission partners with a major financial institution in providing loans to eligible 

staff for the purchase of motor vehicles.  Under the terms of the agreement, the interest rate 
borne by the staff will be 3% (2020: 3%) per annum and the Commission will provide a 
subsidy of the difference between the 3% (2020: 3%) per annum and the interest rate 
charged up to a maximum of 7.95% per annum per loan. The interest subsidy is applied to 
loan balances ranging from $1,500,000 to a maximum of $2,000,000.  The subsidy ends 
when the loan is liquidated or if the staff member is no longer employed to the 
Commission.  As at the reporting date, future subsidy payments are estimated at $3.16 
million (2020: $5.55 million) which will be recognised in profit or loss as they fall due. 
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16. Taxation 
 

Under Section 14 of the Financial Services Commission Act, 2001, the Commission is exempt 
from income tax. 

 
 
17. Pension fund 
 

Effective June 1, 1996, the Securities Commission commenced operations of a contributory 
pension fund (“Plan” or “Fund”) for employees who are eligible in accordance with the rules of 
the Plan.  On August 2, 2001, the Commission assumed responsibility for the Plan (see note 1).  
Effective December 1, 2009, the Plan is administrated and managed by Victoria Mutual 
Pensions Management Limited. 
 
The Fund is a defined-contribution plan which is set up under Trust.  

 
The Fund is subject to periodic actuarial reviews at intervals of not more than three years. The 
last actuarial review at May 31, 2020, disclosed total assets of $594.44 million, past service 
liabilities of $576.73 million and a surplus of $18.71 million.  

 
Contributions by the Commission for the year amounted to $30,343,185 (2020: $32,666,607). 
 
Effective April 1, 2019, the Commission now matches voluntary contribution of the members 
the Pension Plan for the Employees of the Financial Services Commission up to a maximum of 
5%. Arising from the Collective Labour Agreement, the voluntary contribution into the Fund 
was agreed to be retroactively applied from April 1, 2017. Approval was obtained on July 16, 
2019 from Tax Administration Jamaica to payout in full, the retroactive contribution of 
$10,060,885 into the Pension Fund.  

 
18. Insurance licence deposits 
 

In accordance with Section 21 of the Insurance Act 2001, insurance companies, which operate 
in Jamaica, are required to deposit a prescribed amount with the Commission. 

 
As stated in Regulation 8 (1) of the Insurance Regulations, 2001, the minimum asset required to 
be deposited with the Commission by a registered insurer from commencement of operations in 
or from within Jamaica shall be: 
 
(a) in respect of an entity which proposes to carry on life or sickness and health insurance 

business, or both, ninety million dollars ($90,000,000); and 
 
(b) in respect of an entity which proposes to carry on general insurance business, forty-five 

million dollars ($45,000,000). 
 

Regulation 9 (1) states that the value of securities deposited shall be estimated at their market 
value, not exceeding par, at the time they are deposited. 

 
The securities pledged as at March 31, 2021 were valued at approximately $1.064 billion 
(2020: $1.006 billion).   
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19. Financial instruments 
 

(a) Fair values: 

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, securities purchased under resale 
agreements, accounts receivable and accounts payable are assumed to approximate their 
carrying values due to their short-term nature. 

 

(b) Financial risk management: 
Exposure to various types of financial instrument risks (credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk) arises in the ordinary course of the Commission’s business.  The Board of 
Commissioners has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Commission’s risk management framework.  Key management has responsibility for 
monitoring the Commission’s risk management policies.  No derivative instruments are 
presently used to manage, mitigate or eliminate exposure to financial instrument risks. 
 
(i) Credit risk: 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one or both parties to the financial instruments will fail to 
discharge an obligation resulting in financial loss to one or both parties. 

The Commission maintains cash and short-term investments with reputable financial 
institutions and investments are made in repurchase agreements involving 
Government of Jamaica securities. Debt securities are mainly government issued 
debt for which risk of default is considered low. 

At the reporting date, credit risk is concentrated in cash and cash equivalents, 
securities purchased under resale agreements, accounts receivable and investments 
and the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of 
the financial assets. 
 
The Commission generally does not require collateral in respect of trade 
receivables.  Trade receivables relate mainly to the amounts due from customers.  
Management does not have a formal credit policy in place as customers are 
determined according to entities that are registered under the relevant legislation 
administered by the Commission. 
 
Trade receivables 

The aged receivable balances are regularly monitored. Allowances are determined 
upon origination of the trade accounts receivable based on a model that calculates 
the expected credit loss (“ECL”) of the trade accounts receivable and are recognised 
over their term. 
 
The Commission estimates expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade receivables 
using a provision matrix based on historical credit loss experience as well as the 
credit risk and expected developments for each group of customers.   
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued): 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Trade receivables (continued) 
 
The following table provides information about the ECL’s for trade receivables as 
at the reporting date: 

  2021  
 Weighted Gross   
 average carrying Loss Credit 
 loss rate amount allowance impaired 

  $ $ 
Current (not past due) 1.4% 113,859,209 2,313,886       No 
31-60 past 4.8% 701,412 47,632        No 
61-90 days 8.5% 2,907,736 347,707       No 
91-120 days 13.2% 299,380 55,625        No 
121-150 days 20.6% 175,150 50,772       No 
151-180 days 28.2% 148,000 58,771       No 
181-210 days 34.6% 90,400 44,050       No 
211-240 days 43.4% 17,373 10,621       No 
241-270 days 49.8% 41,001 28,807       No 
271-300 days 66.6% 64,600 60,631      No 
301-330 days 79.8% 3,100 3,100        No 
331-360 days 100% 47,400 47,400        No 
Over 360 days 100%        262,951     262,951 Yes 

  118,091,212  3,331,955  
 

  2020  
 Weighted Gross   
 average carrying Loss Credit 
 loss rate amount allowance impaired 

  $ $ 
Current (not past due) 3.3% 114,173,116 3,724,996 no 
31-60 past 10.4% 6,763,818 705,511 no 
61-90 days 17.1% 1,006,911 172,605 no 
91-120 days 23.5% 7,208,116 1,693,752 no 
121-150 days 35.1% 230,569 80,879 no 
151-180 days 48.9% 158,646 77,649 no 
181-210 days 58.7% 475,864 279,570 no 
211-240 days 70.4% 752,000 529,570 no 
241-270 days 80.1% 740,497 593,113 no 
271-300 days 100% 98,600 98,600 no 
301-330 days  100% 568,400 568,400 no 
331-360 days 100% 122,808 122,808 no 
Over 360 days 100%     7,445,481   7,445,481 yes 

  139,744,826 16,092,934 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued): 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Trade receivables (continued) 
 

With the adoption of IFRS 9 in the prior year, all receivables over 120 days were 
determined to be credit impaired. During the year, the Commission reassessed the 
circumstances as it relates to the recoverability of amounts based on historical data, 
and has determined that default occurs at 360 days and over.   

 
Other accounts receivable 
 
Credit losses on other receivables materially comprise staff advances which are 
measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the 
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Commission expects to receive). No impairment allowances were recognised as 
at March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
  Cash and cash equivalents and securities purchased under resale agreements 
 
  Cash and cash equivalents and securities purchased under resale agreements are 

managed by the Commission's treasury department and amounts are held with 
reputable banks and financial institutions with high credit rate and considered to 
have minimal risk of default. 

 
  Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured at 12 months expected 

loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Commission 
considered that cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk. No impairment 
allowances were recognised as at March 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
Expected credit loss assessment for securities purchased under resale agreements 
 
Impairment on securities purchased under resale agreements has been measured on 
the 12-months expected loss basis.  Information about the credit risk and quality of 
these financial assets are as follows:  

 2021 2020 
 Stage 1 Stage 1 
 

 12-month ECL  
 

Gross carrying amount 399,733,964 668,031,666 
Less: impairment allowance  (    2,131,421) (    3,570,843) 
  $397,602,543 664,460,823 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued): 
 

 
(i) Credit risk (continued): 

 
The impairment allowance recognised is analysed as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 

Balance at April 1  3,570,843 3,057,582 
(Recovered)/recognised during the period  (1,439,422)    513,261 
Balance at March 31,  $2,131,421 3,570,843 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk: 

 
Liquidity risk also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the Commission will 
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial 
instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset 
quickly at, or close to, its fair value.  

 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
marketable securities, and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities.  The Commission manages this risk by maintaining a 
substantial portion of its financial assets in liquid form. 
 

(iii) Market risk: 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, foreign 
exchange rates and equity prices will affect the value of the Commission’s assets, 
the amounts of its liabilities and/or the Commission’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable levels.. At the reporting 
date, the Commission did not have any exposure to equity price risk. 

 
 Interest rate risk: 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. Liquid assets are held for the short-term 
and, accordingly, would substantially reflect prevailing interest rates in the 
financial markets. 

 
The Commission invests mainly in fixed interest rate bearing instruments and 
does not have any borrowings. 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued): 
 

(iii) Market risk (continued): 
 

 Interest rate risk (continued): 
 

 
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Commission’s interest-
bearing financial instruments was: 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Fixed rate instruments (J$)  350,000,000 179,590,509  
Fixed rate instruments (US$)  570,532,450   52,874,100 

 
 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments: 

 
An increase/decrease of 100 (2020: 100) basis points in interest rates on J$ 
denominated instruments would have decreased/increased surplus for the year 
by $3,500,000 (2020: $1,795,905).  

 
An increase/decrease of 100 (2020: 100) basis points in interest rates on US$ 
denominated instruments would have decreased/increase surplus for the year 
by $57,053,245 (2020: $528,741). 

 
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency 
rates, remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis as that 
for 2020.  

 
 Foreign currency risk: 
 
 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
 The Commission incurs foreign currency risk primarily on amounts held in 

United States dollars (US$).   
 

At the reporting date, the Commission’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as 
follows: 

 2021 2020 
   US$ US$ 
 Foreign currency assets:   

Cash and cash-equivalents  373,943 32,895 
Securities purchased under resale agreements -          1,488,221 
Investments  4,691,000    747,788  

  5,064,943 2,268,904 
 

 The exchange rate for US$1, in terms of Jamaica dollars, at the reporting date, 
was $143.17 (2020: $132.53). 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (continued): 
 

(iii) Market risk (continued): 
 

 Foreign currency risk (continued): 
 

 
 Sensitivity analysis 
 
 A 6% (2020: 6%) strengthening of the United States dollar against the Jamaica 

dollar would have increased surplus for the year by $43,508,873 (2020: 
$18,041,527).  This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant. 

 
 A 2% (2020: 4%) weakening of the United States dollar, would have decreased 

profit for the year by $14,502,958 (2020: $12,027,685). 
 
 There has been no change during the year in the Commission’s exposure to 

financial instrument risks nor the manner in which it measures and manages 
these risks. 

 
(c) Capital management: 

 
The Commission is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
The Commissioners and management monitor the return on capital, which is defined as 
reserves.  The Commission’s policy is to maintain adequate capital to sustain future 
development of the entity. 
 

 
20. Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Market price is used to 
determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best evidence of fair value of an 
instrument. 
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20. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of 
financial instrument for which it is practicable to estimate that value. 

 
Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy 
 
Financial instrument Method 

Government of Jamaica Securities, 
Certificate of deposits and Fixed Rate Notes. 

Discounting future cash flows of these 
securities at the estimated reporting date using 
yields published by a broker.  Where prices are 
not available fair value is assumed to 
approximate amortised cost. 

Prices of bonds at reporting date as quoted by 
broker/dealer, where available. 

Cash equivalents, resale agreements and 
other short-term investments accounts 
receivable and other payables. 

Assumed to approximate their carrying values, 
due to their short-term nature. 

Unitised funds Prices provided by fund managers 
 
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those 
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable.  These two types of inputs have created 
the following fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1 -  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level 
includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges. 

 
Level 2 -  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.   

Level 3 -  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt 
instruments with significant unobservable components. This hierarchy requires 
the use of observable market data when available. 

The Commission considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where 
possible. 
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Fair value of financial instrum

ents (continued) 
 

A
ccounting classifications and fair values 

 The follow
ing table show

s the carrying am
ounts and fair values of financial assets including their levels in the fair value hierarchy.  
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21. Contingent liabilities 

 
The Commission is contingently liable in respect of legal claims and proceedings arising in the 
ordinary course of business. The facts and circumstances relating to particular cases are 
evaluated in determining whether it is more likely than not that there will be a future outflow of 
funds and, once established, whether a provision relating to a specific case is necessary or 
sufficient. Where the outcome cannot be reliably estimated or where the Commission is 
confident in its defence, no provision is made in the financial statements.  Accordingly, 
significant management judgement relating to provisions and contingent liabilities is required 
since the outcome of litigation is difficult to predict. The Commission does not expect the 
ultimate resolution of the actions to which it is a party to have a significant adverse impact on 
the financial position of the Commission. 
 
As at March 31, 2021, there were eight (2020: nine) litigation proceedings for which legal fees 
of approximately $31,900,000 (2020: $24,700,000) were provided for. 

 
 
22. Related party balances and transactions 

 
The Commission has a related party relationship with its Commissioners and other Key 
Management personnel.  “Key Management personnel” comprise the Commissioners and 
Senior Managers of the Commission. 
 
(a) The statement of financial position includes balances with related parties, arising in the 

ordinary course of business, as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Accounts payable: 
 

Employee benefits – other key management 28,136,733 20,367,990  
 

(b) The statement of comprehensive income includes the following expenses with related 
parties, incurred in the ordinary course of business: 

 2021 2020
 $ $ 

Key Management Personnel compensation: 
Commissioners’ fees 1,920,775 1,635,850 
Salaries 193,076,354 137,653,621 
Gratuity 27,823,214 21,156,631 
Pension contributions        652,498        618,277 
 

23. Allocation to the Government of Jamaica Consolidated Fund 
 

Self- financing Public Bodies are required to provide for the payment of financial distribution 
based on the criteria outlined in Regulations 2-18 of the Public Bodies Regulations 2015. 
Public Bodies are therefore expected to provide distributions of 5-10% of surplus to be 
transferred to the Consolidation Fund. 
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23. Allocation to the Government of Jamaica Consolidated Fund (continued) 
 

As at the reporting date, the Commission upon request from the Ministry of Finance and 
Planning remitted $11,990,000 (2020: $12,330,000) to the Accountant General’s Department.   

 
 
24. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic 
  

The World Health Organization declared the novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak a 
pandemic on March 11, 2020 and the Government of Jamaica (GOJ) declared the island a 
disaster area on March 13, 2020.  
 
The pandemic and the measures to control its human impact have resulted in significant 
disruptions to the Commission’s principal activities and business operations.   
 
In light of the heightened concerns and in accordance with the directives of the GOJ, to 
minimize the potential exposure to the Commission’s staff and partners, whilst ensuring that 
any disruption to the Commission activities are kept at a minimum, management pursued 
appropriate mitigation strategies.  During the year, staff were equipped with hand sanitizers, 
masks and gloves (where necessary), and were required to comply with mandated 
social/physical distancing rules.  The Commission ensures that it remains compliant with 
government/public health restrictions and attendant mitigating measures.  
 
The Commission continues to monitor the effect of developments arising from the pandemic on 
the risks it faced. In the review of the pandemic’s effect on the Commission’s business since 
the reporting date, management has not identified any material adverse impact on the 
Commission’s operations. 
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